Filed 01-17-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP1942 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERALD P. MITCHELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Judgment Entered in the Sheboygan County Circuit Court, the Honorable Terence T. Bourke, Presiding, and from the Order Entered in the Sheboygan County Circuit Court, the Honorable Rebecca L. Persick, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Police arrested Gerald Mitchell for operating while intoxicated. They took him to the police station and placed him in a holding cell. After some time at the station, police decided to take Mitchell to the hospital and take his blood. On the trip to the hospital, Mitchell lost consciousness. No warrant was ever sought, and police took Mitchell's blood about an hour and a half after his arrest. The issues presented are:

implied-consent 1. Does Wisconsin's statute supply consent in the constitutional sense, such that no warrant was required?

> The trial court initially held that it did and no appellate court has decided the question; this court should hold that the statute does not exception the create an to warrant requirement.

2. Did Mitchell's eventual unconsciousness create an exigency that permitted the warrantless blood draw?

> The circuit court held that it did; this court should hold that there was no exigency.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Mitchell would welcome oral argument if the court should desire it. Publication may be

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 8 of 35

merited, as neither of the constitutional questions presented have been resolved in this state.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

In May of 2013 in Sheboygan, Gerald Mitchell's neighbor called the police. He said Mitchell's sister had called him and said Mitchell was planning to take his own life. (150:105-06). The neighbor found Mitchell in the stairwell of his apartment building. (150:94). Mitchell seemed agitated and the neighbor thought he was intoxicated; the neighbor watched Mitchell get into a van and drive off. (150:95,100-01). At his trial, Mitchell would testify that on that day he was depressed and had decided to kill himself. (150:244-45). To that end he'd mixed a half-liter of vodka with Mountain Dew in a large cup, and brought that and 40 pills to the shore of Lake Michigan. He took the pills and drank the drink. (150:247-48,254).

Police quickly located Mitchell walking near the lake; his van was found parked nearby. (150:220). He was belligerent and was having trouble staying upright. (150:197,210). The officers had Mitchell take a preliminary breath test and it revealed a BAC of .24. (147:16). The police loaded Mitchell into a squad car and took him to the police department "for further processing." (147:17). There, he was placed in a holding cell, where at some point he "began to close his eyes and sort of fall asleep or perhaps pass out,"

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 9 of 35

though he "would wake up with stimulation." (147:16-17). Police then decided to take him to the hospital for a blood draw. (150:13-14). By the time they arrived at the hospital he was unresponsive and could not be roused. (147:18).

An officer read the "Informing the Accused" form aloud in Mitchell's presence, though Mitchell remained unconscious. The officer then directed hospital personnel to take Mitchell's blood for testing. (147:19-23). The blood was drawn about an hour and a half after Mitchell's arrest. (150:177). Testing showed a .222 BAC.

B. Procedural Background

Mitchell was charged with operating while intoxicated and with a prohibited blood alcohol concentration. (17). He moved to suppress the blood test results on the ground that his blood was taken without a warrant or exigent circumstances. (25). The state agreed there was no exigency, but argued that, per the statute, Mitchell had consented to the test by driving, and had not withdrawn his consent. (147:45; 32). The trial court upheld the search, relying on the implied-consent statute. (147:50-51). The state introduced the test results at Mitchell's jury trial, and he was convicted of both counts. (150:178,315).

Mitchell appealed the suppression decision, and the court of appeals certified the case to the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, noting a single issue: "whether the warrantless blood draw of an unconscious motorist pursuant to Wisconsin's implied consent Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 10 of 35

law, where no exigent circumstances exist or have been argued, violates the Fourth Amendment." 2015AP304-CR, Certification of May 17, 2017. (App. 135)

The state supreme court accepted certification. It ultimately upheld the search by a 5-2 vote, but there was no majority for any rationale. *State v. Mitchell*, 2018 WI 84, 383 Wis. 2d 192, 914 N.W.2d 151. Mitchell petitioned the Supreme Court of the United States for certiorari, which was granted. That Court vacated the state supreme court decision and remanded for further proceedings. *Mitchell v. Wisconsin*, 139 S. Ct. 2525 (2019).

Those further proceedings were ordered so that the state courts could apply the new rule the Court announced regarding circumstances: that they would typically be present in the case of an unconscious motorist, unless "police could not have reasonably judged that a warrant application would interfere with other pressing needs or duties" and the defendant's "blood would not have been drawn if police had not been seeking BAC information." Id. at 2359. The circuit court held a second evidentiary hearing address to these questions.

The arresting officer was the sole witness. He testified that he'd made the arrest at 4:26 p.m. (152:4; App. 104). He then drove to the police station, a journey of about five minutes. (152:5; App. 105). There, Mitchell was placed in a holding cell. (152:6;

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 11 of 35

App. 106). However, police decided to take Mitchell to the hospital with the purpose of performing an evidentiary blood draw. (152:6,8; App. 106,08). The reason for this decision, the officer testified, was that Mitchell was incapable of standing safely, and the breath-testing machine at the police station required the subject to stand during the test. (152:10; App. 110).

The officer had earlier testified that he "wasn't so concerned of medical concerns" until the ride over the when Mitchell's "condition hospital, to increasingly became worse." (142:18). He did not know, at the time, that there was reason to believe Mitchell had attempted suicide. (142:18-19). At the new hearing he added that he thought Mitchell was drunk because of his condition and symptoms and the PBT result; he had no information about Mitchell having ingested any other substances. App. 108). He also testified that he was concerned that the jail would not hold Mitchell until he had been medically cleared. (152:22-23; App. 122-23).

To that end the officer placed Mitchell in his squad and began the eight-minute drive to the hospital. (152:6; App. 106). During the drive, Mitchell's condition declined, such that by the time they arrived the officer could not wake him, and needed the assistance of another officer to place him in a wheelchair and wheel him inside. (152:14,19-20; App. 114-20).

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 12 of 35

At the hospital, the officer testified, medical staff "monitored" and "assessed" Mitchell. (152:8; App. 108). In response to the state and the court's examination, he claimed he had seen medical staff take blood from Mitchell independent of the evidentiary blood draw, though he'd previously testified that he could recall only an attempt to collect urine, and had no recollection of other procedures. (152:21-22,26; App. 121-22,126). He testified that Mitchell didn't get out of the hospital that day, and stayed for more than one day in the ICU. (152:22; App. 122).

The officer testified that he never considered getting a warrant for the blood draw, and never asked any other officer about getting one. (152:12; App. 112). This was so though he was with Mitchell at the police station during business hours on a weekday, and other officers were present. (152:12-13; App. 112-13). He agreed that at present he "maybe" could get a warrant within 20 minutes. (152:13; App. 113)

The circuit court denied suppression, saying

[N]ormally when someone gets to the hospital, the officer would go over the Informing the Accused form with the defendant and get the defendant's consent. And in 2013, that would certainly be -- and now -- sufficient for the officer to get a warrantless blood draw. A warrant wouldn't have been required.

But the officers were denied that opportunity because your client was unconscious by the time they got to the hospital. So I don't think it's that Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 13 of 35

they decided to get a warrantless blood draw. I think that once they got there, his condition had deteriorated so drastically they weren't able to get his consent. And by that time I think a blood draw was necessary for medical reasons. Particularly in light of the information that he was suicidal, I think quick action would have been necessary.

So the United States Supreme Court in the Mitchell decision used some pretty strong language saying that the warrant requirement, Fourth Amendment, the exigent circumstances exception the Fourth to Amendment warrant requirement almost always permits a blood test without a warrant where a driver suspected of drunk driving is unconscious and therefore cannot be given a breath test.

So they seem to acknowledge that it would be a very rare situation where a warrantless blood draw in that situation would not be permissible. And they did set out this two-prong test. The first prong is whether the blood would not have been drawn if police hadn't been seeking BAC information.

And I think it's clearly established that it would have because his condition was so dire by the time he arrived at the hospital.

I do want to touch on the second prong for a couple reasons. The second prong is the police could not have reasonably judged that a warrant application would interfere with other pressing needs or duties. I think that that other pressing needs clause is very relevant in this particular situation because of Mr. Mitchell's very dire medical situation.

Time would have been of the essence to treat him, especially, again, with that information that he was potentially suicidal and may have done something to harm himself. And I think under those circumstances, it would have been unconscionable for the police to delay the proceedings to get a warrant when lifesaving measures may have been needed and apparently were since he ended up in the Intensive Care Unit.

The other thing I wanted to touch on -- and it could have been elicited through testimony by me, and I simply didn't do it because of that pressing health need which necessitated a blood draw. And that is that in 2013, the district attorney at that time was Joe DeCecco. And he was very, very vocal and got quite a bit of local press about the fact that his office was understaffed. And that is something that would have been well known to police and to the community.

And it may be unique to our county and is still a problem in our county as a matter of fact. And so that certainly would have informed the police's decision to get a warrant if there had been time if there hadn't been a medical crisis. I didn't think it was necessary to get into that because there was a medical crisis in this situation, and Mr. Mitchell needed to be assessed quickly to hopefully preserve his life.

(152:30-33; App. 130-33).

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

On its first trip through the Wisconsin courts, one issue was litigated in this case: whether Mitchell's blood draw was valid under the consent Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 15 of 35

exception to the search warrant requirement. More precisely the question was whether the existence of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b), which purports to supply consent where an OWI suspect is unconscious, supplies blanket consent in a Fourth Amendment sense.

This question was not answered by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, because its fractured decision did not contain a majority of justices for any legal conclusion. Moreover, that court's judgment was later vacated by the Supreme Court of the United States. So there's no binding state answer to this constitutional question.

There's no federal answer either, because the plurality opinion (which, with the addition of Justice Thomas's concurrence, supplies the deciding rationale) did not address the question. Instead, the Court laid out a new set of rules for unconscious OWI suspects under the doctrine of exigency. The Court simply did not address what, if any, impact the statute may have on the question of constitutional consent.

Because the consent issue has never been definitively decided, it remains live in this case. Mitchell will therefore address it first, before turning to the question of whether, in the alternative, the taking of his blood can be justified by exigency.

II. The implied-consent statute cannot supply voluntary consent so as to justify a warrantless blood draw under the Fourth Amendment.

A. There is no binding law on the question.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has been asked several times in recent years to decide whether the implied-consent law supplies actual, constitutional consent, but it has not issued a binding decision on the question. In both *State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812, and *State v. Brar*, 2017 WI 73, 376 Wis. 2d 685, 898 N.W.2d 499, the parties briefed whether the implied-consent statute satisfied the consent exception to the warrant requirement, but in each case, only three justices concluded that it did.

In this case's first journey through our court system, the state supreme court again addressed the implied-consent law as applied to an unconscious motorist. Once again, only three justices concluded in statute supplied that the consent the constitutional sense. State v. Mitchell, 2018 WI 84, \P ¶1-66 383 Wis. 2d 192, 914 N.W.2d 151. Two justices—Justice Kelly, who wrote in concurrence, and Justice Rebecca Bradley, who joined him—voted to uphold the blood draw as a valid search incident to arrest. Id., ¶¶67-85. But, again, this conclusion was rejected by five of the seven justices.

So, there was no majority: either for the notion that implied consent is constitutional consent; or for Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 17 of 35

the notion that a blood draw from an unconscious motorist is a valid search incident to arrest. In Wisconsin, where there is no "majority of the participating judges" for any "particular point," no binding law is made. State v. Elam, 195 Wis. 2d 683, 685, 538 N.W.2d 249 (1995); Doe v. Archdiocese of Milwaukee, 211 Wis. 2d 312, 334, 565 N.W.2d 94 (1997) (where three separate opinions gave three distinct reasons for the result "none of the opinions in that case ha[d] any precedential value"). Because the decision in Mitchell contains no majority for any proposition of law, it establishes no precedent. This would be true even if it hadn't been vacated by the Supreme Court of the United States.

B. There is no conflict on the question in decisions of this Court, so the Court is free to decide it.

When this Court last had this case, it certified it, concluding that two prior decisions were in conflict. Certification of May 17, 2017. (App. 135-48). The two cases—State v. Wintlend, 2002 WI App 314, 258 Wis. 2d 875, 655 N.W.2d 745, and State v. Padley, 2014 WI App 65, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867—are not truly in conflict and do not reach the question here. This Court can and should decide the question of constitutional consent.

In *Wintlend*, the (conscious) motorist submitted to a blood test after being arrested and hearing the officer read the informing the accused form. 258 Wis. 2d 875, ¶2. The motorist contended the

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 18 of 35

choice presented by the form was coercive, such that his choice to permit the test was not voluntary in a constitutional sense. *Id*.

In rejecting this argument, this Court cited a state supreme court case, *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980) that was not about the Fourth Amendment at all. *Neitzel* said that a motorist, on obtaining a license,

submits to the legislatively imposed condition on his license that, upon being arrested and issued a citation for driving under the influence of an intoxicant ... he consents to submit to the prescribed chemical tests. He applies for and takes his license subject to the condition that a failure to submit to the chemical tests will result in the sixty-day revocation of his license unless the refusal was reasonable.

Id. at 193.

Wintlend repeated Neitzel's statement that "when a would-be motorist applies for and receives an operator's license, that person submits to the legislatively imposed condition that, upon being arrested for driving while under the influence, he or she consents to submit to the prescribed chemical tests." 258 Wis. 2d 875, ¶12. But also like Neitzel, in the next paragraph it clarified that the "consent" it's talking about is not consent to the blood test itself: on getting a license the motorist is consenting "to take a test or lose the license." 258 Wis. 2d 875, ¶13. This is, (as Padley noted) the way the implied-consent statute operates with respect to conscious motorists. It's also

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 19 of 35

the sort of scheme the Supreme Court blessed in Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016). Wintlend just wasn't about the statute at issue here, which doesn't put the motorist to any sort of choice about submitting to a blood test: it simply declares that the test will be performed.

Padley, of course, didn't deal with this statute either: it likewise addressed the provisions applicable to conscious motorist. 354 Wis. 2d 545, ¶39 n.10. No Wisconsin appellate court has held that a person getting a driver's license consents not simply to being put to the choice of taking a test or losing the license, but to the actual test itself. If Wintlend and Padley conflict at all, that conflict isn't related to the question in this case. The Court is free to decide it.

C. The implied-consent statute cannot supply constitutionally sufficient consent to a blood test.

The Fourth Amendment generally forbids warrantless searches, and a blood draw to test for alcohol is a search. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 148 (2013). So, a blood draw violates the Fourth Amendment unless it falls within one of the established exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Id.* Consent is one exception to the warrant requirement but, to validate a search, not just any "consent" will do. The consent must be given "freely and voluntarily"—be "an essentially free and unconstrained choice." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 222, 225 (1973).

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 20 of 35

Courts determine whether consent is free and the voluntary by examining totality circumstances. Factors the Wisconsin Supreme Court has enumerated include (1) whether the police used deception, trickery, or misrepresentation in their dialogue with the defendant to persuade him to consent; (2) whether the police threatened or physically intimidated the defendant or "punished" him by the deprivation of something like food or sleep; (3) whether the conditions attending the request to search were congenial, non-threatening, and cooperative, or the opposite; (4) how the defendant responded to the request to search; (5) what characteristics the defendant had as to age, intelligence, education, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with the police; and (6) whether the police informed the defendant that he could refuse consent. State v. Artic, 2010 WI 83, ¶33, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430. So, though "voluntary consent" is a legal term of art, its meaning is not much different from the everyday meaning of those two words: a person has voluntarily consented under the Fourth Amendment when, under all the facts and circumstances, they've made a free choice to permit, rather than refuse, a particular search.

Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar) and (b) are in a section of the statutes containing another provision titled "Implied Consent." But what they prescribe clearly has nothing to do with the above constitutional concept. What they say (as pertinent here) is that if the police have probable cause for OWI, or if a driver has been in an accident causing

Case 2019AP001942 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-17-2020 Page 21 of 35

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