Respondent Brief

Filed 06-08-2020

Page 1 of 34

RECEIVED 06-08-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP1942-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERALD P. MITCHELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TERENCE T. BOURKE AND THE HONORABLE REBECCA L. PERSICK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

But it makes no difference whether Mitchell was going to be hospitalized. What matters is whether his blood was drawn at the hospital. *Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2539. It plainly was.

In addition, Mitchell does not explain why the officers' belief when they decided to take Mitchell to the hospital would govern whether the subsequent blood draw was justified. Even without the rule the Supreme Court established in *Mitchell*, the issue would not be what officers believed when they decided to take him to the hospital. It would be what they believed when they had medical personnel draw Mitchell's blood.

Under the rule the Supreme Court established in *Mitchell*, whether the officers reasonably anticipated that Mitchell's blood would be drawn at the hospital even if they were not seeking BAC information is irrelevant. It was Mitchell's burden to affirmatively show that his blood would not have been drawn anyway. *Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2539. He

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 25 of 34

failed to meet that burden, and therefore failed to show that the general rule under which his blood draw was justified by exigent circumstances does not apply. On this basis alone, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Mitchell's suppression motion and the judgment of conviction.

2. The circuit court correctly found that Mitchell failed to show that officers could not reasonably have believed that a delay to seek a warrant would interfere with other pressing needs or duties.

Because Mitchell failed to show that his blood would not have been drawn had police not been seeking BAC information, he failed to satisfy his burden to show that exigent circumstances did not justify his blood draw. This Court need not address the second prong of Mitchell's burden. But Mitchell also failed to satisfy that prong.

The circuit court said that the "other pressing needs" criterion is also "very relevant in this particular situation because of Mr. Mitchell's very dire medical situation." (R. 152:32.) The court noted that "Time would have been of the essence to treat him, especially, again, with that information that he was potentially suicidal and may have done something to harm himself." (R. 152:32.) The court added, "And I think under those circumstances, it would have been unconscionable for the police to delay the proceedings to get a warrant when lifesaving measures may have been needed and apparently were since he ended up in the Intensive Care Unit." (R. 152:32.)

Mitchell argues that "The [S]tate has never suggested that the officer could reasonably have judged that getting a warrant would have interfered with other pressing needs or duties." (Mitchell's Br. 21.) Even if that were true, it would make no difference. The State was not required to prove that

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 26 of 34

the officer reasonably judged that getting a warrant would interfere with his other duties—Mitchell was required to prove that a reasonable officer could not have so judged. *Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2539. He failed to do so.

Mitchell argues that the officers had time between arresting him and the blood draw to obtain a warrant. (Mitchell's Br. 21–22.)

However, the officers had no reason to attempt to get a warrant when they arrested Mitchell because they intended to conduct a breath test. As the Supreme Court recognized, it was reasonable for officers to seek a breath test at the station, and they acted "with reasonable dispatch to procure one." *Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2534. However, the officers reasonably did not attempt to obtain a warrant once it became clear that Mitchell was too intoxicated for a breath test. As the circuit court found, Mitchell's "very dire medical situation" meant that "Time would have been of the essence to treat him, especially, again, with that information that he was potentially suicidal and may have done something to harm himself." (R. 152:32.)

And the officers reasonably did not try to obtain a warrant after arriving at the hospital for two reasons. First, the officers sought to conduct a consensual blood draw. An officer read the Informing the Accused form to Mitchell and asked that he submit to a blood draw. (R. (150:175–76.) But Mitchell, who was unconscious by this point, did not respond. (R. 150:176.)

As the circuit court recognized, this was how officers typically proceed: "normally when someone gets to the hospital, the officer would go over the Informing the Accused form with the defendant and get the defendant's consent." (R. 152:30–31.) The court recognized that had Mitchell submitted to the request for a blood sample under the implied consent law, "A warrant wouldn't have been required."

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 27 of 34

(R. 152:31.) And it recognized that when Mitchell did not respond, "it would have been unconscionable for the police to delay the proceedings to get a warrant when lifesaving measures may have been needed and apparently were since he ended up in the Intensive Care Unit." (R. 152:32.)

Second, by the time Sergeant Jaeger requested a blood sample, medical staff had already drawn Mitchell's blood. (R. 152:21–22.) The officers therefore had no need to attempt to obtain a warrant.

Mitchell also suggests that the blood draw in this case was not justified by exigent circumstances because officers created the exigency by leaving him in a cell at the police station until his condition deteriorated to the point that he could not take an evidentiary breath test. (Mitchell's Br. 24.) He claims that the delay at the jail was caused by police because they "did not expeditiously pursue either actual consent or a warrant to take his blood." (Mitchell's Br. 25.)

Mitchell's assertions are meritless. First, there is no dispute that officers took Mitchell to the police station intending to conduct an evidentiary breath test. And the Supreme Court expressly found that the officers acted reasonably in doing so. *Mitchell*, 139 S. Ct. at 2534. And the officers did not just wait around at the police station so that Mitchell would become unconscious and they could get a blood sample without a warrant. Officer Jaeger testified that they were at the police station for only 10 to 15 minutes. (R. 150:174.) Once they reasonably took Mitchell to the police station for a breath test, the officers could not properly have conducted a breath test during the 10 to 15 minutes they were at the police station. They could not properly have conducted a breath test before an observation of "a minimum of 20 minutes prior to the collection of a breath specimen, during which time the test subject did not ingest alcohol, regurgitate, vomit or smoke." Wis. Admin. Code § 311.06(3)(a). Any suggestion that police created an exigency by delaying a

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 28 of 34

breath test is unsupported by anything in the record and is wrong.

Mitchell has failed to show that "police could not have reasonably judged that a warrant application would interfere with other pressing police needs or duties," specifically tending to his medical needs. He therefore has not satisfied either prong of his two-part burden to show that exigent circumstances did not justify the blood draw. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's order denying Mitchell's suppression motion and the judgment of conviction.

II. This Court should decline to address whether the blood draw from Mitchell was justified by his implied consent.

Mitchell devotes much of his brief to an argument that "The implied-consent statute cannot supply voluntary consent so as to justify a warrantless blood draw under the Fourth Amendment." (Mitchell's Br. 10–20.) This Court should decline to address this argument for two reasons. First, this Court has already recognized that to decide that issue this Court would have to resolve a conflict between this Court's opinions in *Wintlend* and *Padley*. (R. 109:13.) And this Court has already recognized that it cannot resolve that conflict, so it certified this case to the Wisconsin Supreme Court. (R. 109:13.)

Second, there is no need to determine whether the blood draw in this case was justified by Wisconsin's implied consent law because the United States Supreme Court remanded this case to afford Mitchell an opportunity to show that exigent circumstances did not justify the blood draw in this case. Mitchell failed to make that showing, so the blood draw was justified by exigent circumstances. It makes no difference whether the blood draw was also justified by Mitchell's consent under the implied consent law.

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 29 of 34

A. This Court correctly concluded in this case that it cannot decide whether Mitchell's implied consent justified the blood draw.

When it certified this case to the Wisconsin Supreme Court, this Court explained that it did so because of a conflict between this Court's opinions in Wintlend and Padley about whether consent under Wis. Stat. § 343.305 is "actual, Fourth Amendment consent." (R. 109:13.) This Court recognized that "Wintlend implies that the 'implied consent' provided for in WIS. STAT. § 343.305 is actual, voluntary consent, at least so long as the suspect does not withdraw that consent. *Padlev*. on the other hand, explicitly rejected that position when it was offered by the State." (R. 109:13.) This Court further recognized that "The cases also disagree about when consent is given—an issue critical to whether consent is in fact given and voluntary. Neither case directly addressed our precise factual issue, but we cannot resolve this case without ignoring or modifying the differing analyses in *Padley* and *Wintlend*." (R. 109:13.) This Court stated that because it is "unable to resolve conflicts in precedent, the proper course of action in this situation is to certify the question." (R. 109:13.)

The Wisconsin Supreme Court's lead opinion in this case also recognized the obvious conflict between *Wintlend* and *Padley*: "we clarify that *Padley* has no precedential effect because its holding is in direct conflict with an earlier, published court of appeals decision, *State v. Wintlend*, 2002 WI App 314, 258 Wis. 2d 875, 655 N.W.2d 745." *Mitchell*, 383 Wis. 2d 192, ¶ 60. The concurring and dissenting opinions, while disagreeing with the lead opinion's analysis, did not dispute the lead opinion's characterization of *Padley* and *Wintlend* as being in "direct conflict."

"The law of the case doctrine is a 'longstanding rule that a decision on a legal issue by an appellate court establishes the law of the case, which must be followed in all subsequent Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 30 of 34

proceedings in the trial court or on later appeal." State v. Stuart, 2003 WI 73, ¶ 23, 262 Wis. 2d 620, 664 N.W.2d 82 (citation omitted).

Here, there is no while there is no binding opinion establishing that this Court cannot decide the conflict between *Wintlend* and *Padley*, this Court's certification and the Wisconsin Supreme Court's opinion make clear that there is a conflict and that this Court cannot decide it.

Mitchell now urges this Court to decide the issue this Court has recognized it cannot decide. He claims that, contrary to what this Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court's lead opinion recognized, *Padley* and *Wintlend* "are not truly in conflict." (Mitchell's Br. 11.) Mitchell seems to argue that although this Court recognized in *Wintlend* that by obtaining a driver's license (or by driving on a Wisconsin highway), a person consents to give a sample of his breath, blood, or urine when an officer has probable cause to believe the person has violated an OWI-related law, this Court really only meant that a person consents to lose his license if he does not later consent when the officer requests a sample. (Mitchell's Br. 12–13.)

But this Court recognized in *Wintlend* that the defendant was arguing that "giving up the right to privacy to one's own body in return for keeping the right to drive is coercive." *Wintlend*, 258 Wis. 2d 875, ¶ 8. This Court concluded that a person's consent occurs either when he obtains a license, or when he drives on a highway. Id. ¶¶ 13–16. It concluded that under the law, by obtaining a driver's license, a person "consents to submit to the prescribed chemical tests" upon being arrested. Id. ¶ 12. And this Court concluded that "the bodily intrusion the motorist is being asked to allow, in return for retaining the license to drive, is a minimal one." Id. ¶ 17.

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 31 of 34

Mitchell asserts that "No Wisconsin appellate court has held that a person getting a driver's license consents not simply to being put to the choice of taking a test or losing the license, but to the actual test itself." (Mitchell's Br. 13.)

He is wrong. This Court has recognized that under the implied consent law, "Any person who drives or operates a motor vehicle in Wisconsin is deemed to have given consent to a test of his breath, blood or urine." *Milwaukee Cty. v. Proegler*, 95 Wis. 2d 614, 623, 291 N.W.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1980). "This consent is not optional, but is an implied condition precedent to the operation of a motor vehicle on Wisconsin public highways." *Id.* The implied consent law "does not contemplate a choice, but rather establishes that a defendant will suffer the consequences of revocation should he refuse to submit to the test after having given his implied consent to do so. The defendant's consent is not at issue." *Id.* at 624.

And the Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized that under the implied consent law, "those who drive consent to chemical testing." $State\ v.\ Disch$, 129 Wis. 2d 225, 231, 385 N.W.2d 140 (1986) (quoting $State\ v.\ Nordness$, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 28, 381 NW.2d 300 (1986)). Therefore, when a person is unconscious or otherwise incapable of withdrawing that consent "a test may be administered to the person." Id. (citation omitted). Disch has never been overruled. $See\ State\ v.\ Howes$, 2017 WI 18, ¶¶ 75–76, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812 (Gableman, J., concurring).

In *Padley*, this Court concluded that the consent a person impliedly gives by driving on a Wisconsin highway, to give a blood sample when an officer has probable cause that the person has violated an OWI-related law, is insufficient to authorize a blood draw. *Padley*, 354 Wis. 2d 545, ¶¶ 37–39. That conclusion cannot be squared with *Wintlend*, *Proegler*, and *Disch*.

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 32 of 34

As this Court already recognized in this case, *Padley* and *Wintlend* conflict, this Court cannot resolve that conflict, and without doing so, it cannot decide the implied consent issue in this case. Mitchell has not shown this Court was wrong. Accordingly, this Court should decline to address the issue.

B. The blood draw was justified by exigent circumstances. It makes no difference whether it was also justified by Mitchell's implied consent.

Even if this Court were to conclude that it was somehow wrong when it said it could not resolve the conflict between *Wintlend* and *Padley*, and that it could decide whether the blood draw from Mitchell was justified by his implied consent, it would be unnecessary to address that issue. The blood draw in this case was justified by exigent circumstances. It makes no difference whether the blood draw was also justified by Mitchell's implied consent.

This Court certified this case to the Wisconsin Supreme Court on the issue of "whether the warrantless blood draw of an unconscious motorist pursuant to Wisconsin's implied consent law, where no exigent circumstances exist or have been argued, violates the Fourth Amendment." (R. 109:1.) Under the United States Supreme Court's new rule for the category of unconscious drivers, exigent circumstances plainly existed in this case, and justified the warrantless blood draw unless a defendant can show that his is an unusual case in which a limited exception, rather than the general rule, applies. Mitchell, 139 S. Ct. at 2539. The Court remanded the case to afford Mitchell an opportunity to attempt to make that showing. Id. It did not remand so that this Court could decide whether the blood draw was justified by Wisconsin's implied consent law. Because the exigent circumstances issue is dispositive, this Court should decline to address the consent issue. See State v. Simmelink, 2014 WI

Case 2019AP001942 Respondent Brief Filed 06-08-2020 Page 33 of 34

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